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Attorneys for the Plaintiff and Proposed Classes

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SACRAMENTO DIVISION
) Case No:
Delores Polk, on behalf of herself and )
similarly situated; ) CLASS ACTION
) COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, )
V. )
)
Betty Yee, in her official capacity as )
State Controller of California; SEIU )
Local 2015; )
)
Defendants. )
)
INTRODUCTION

1. The First Amendment prohibits the government and unions from seizing

union dues or fees from homecare providers without their consent. See Janus v.

AFSCME, Council 31, 138 S. Ct. 2448 (2018); Harris v. Quinn, 134 S. Ct. 2618
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(2014). Defendants SEIU Local 2015 and the California State Controller are
violating the First Amendment by maintaining and enforcing a policy under which
they will seize union dues from In-Home Supportive Services (“IHSS”) providers
who notify a Defendant that they no longer consent to paying union dues, unless
such notification is provided to SEIU Local 2015 during an annual fifteen (15) day
period. Defendants also are violating 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(32) by diverting portions
of IHSS payments owed to Polk and other providers to SEIU Local 2015. Plaintiff
Delores Polk, on behalf of herself and similarly situated IHSS providers, seeks a
declaratory judgment that Defendants’ revocation policy is unconstitutional,
injunctive relief that prohibits its maintenance and enforcement, and compensatory
and nominal damages for those injured by the policy.
PARTIES

2. Plaintiff Delores Polk resides in Solano County, California.

3. Defendant Betty Yee, State Controller of California (“State Controller”), is
sued in her official capacity. The State Controller is a constitutional office of the
State of California and has an executive office at 300 Capitol Mall, Suite 1850,
Sacramento, California, 95814.

4. Defendant SEIU Local 2015 is a labor organization whose headquarters is
located at 2910 Beverly Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90057, and that
conducts business in this judicial district.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. The Court has jurisdiction to adjudicate this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
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§ 1331 because it arises under the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §
1396a(a)(32), and 28 U.S.C. § 1343 because Plaintiffs seek relief under 42 U.S.C. §
1983. This Court has the authority under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 to grant
declaratory relief and other relief based thereon.

6. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because the State
Controller is headquartered in this judicial district, SEIU Local 2015 does business
in this juridical district, and a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim

occurred in this judicial district.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

7. In-Home Support Services (“IHSS”) is a Medicaid program that pays for
services for income-eligible persons with disabilities that enable those persons to
live at home and avoid institutionalization. See Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12300 et
seq.

8. Among other things, persons with disabilities enrolled in IHSS can use
their IHSS subsidies to employ personal care “providers” to assist them with
activities of daily living in their homes, such as eating and dressing. See Cal. Welf.
& Inst. Code § 12300(c)-(d).

9. Providers are primarily employed by persons enrolled in IHSS or their
guardians, who are responsible for hiring, directing, supervising, evaluating, and
terminating their providers.

10. On information and belief, a majority of providers are related to the person
receiving their care and services, and many of those providers are a parent of the
person receiving their care and services.
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11. The IHSS program pays providers for their services through the State
Controller, which processes and sends payments to providers by direct electronic
deposit to bank accounts or by check. See Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 12302.2,
12304.4.

12. Even though they are not public employees, California law deems providers
to be public employees for unionization purposes and authorizes unions to act as the
exclusive representatives of all providers in a county. See Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code §
12301.6(c).

13. SEIU Local 2015 is the exclusive representative of providers in
approximately forty-seven (47) California counties, to include Solano county.

14. California law authorizes the State Controller to deduct an exclusive
representative’s dues and fees from IHSS payments made to providers and to remit
those dues and fees to the exclusive representative. See Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code §
12301.6(h)(2).

15. The State Controller, at the behest of SEIU Local 2015 and in coordination
with it, has and will deduct union dues from IHSS payments made to providers
subject to SEIU Local 2015’s exclusive representation and remit those monies to
SEIU Local 2015.

16. SEIU Local 2015 also coordinates with other governmental entities, to
include the California Department of Social Services, California counties, and
nonprofit consortiums and public authorities established by counties to deliver

IHSS services, to cause and effectuate the deduction of union dues from IHSS
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payments made to providers. The State Controller, however, ultimately makes
those deductions and transfers the monies to SEIU Local 2015.

17. Delores Polk is a provider who provides homebased care to her daughter,
who is a person with disabilities enrolled in the IHSS program.

18. Upon becoming a provider in Solano county, Polk automatically became
subject to SEIU Local 2015’s exclusive representation.

19. In or around February 28, 2018, Polk received an unsolicited phone call
from SEIU Local 2015 in which she was solicited to join SEIU Local 2015. SEIU
Local 2015’s solicitor read to Polk what she recalls as being technical verbiage
concerning terms of membership and recorded Polk’s affirmative responses to the
script being read to her.

20. On information and belief, SEIU Local 2015’s telephone solicitor read to
Polk the terms of SEIU Local 2015’s membership and dues deduction authorization.

21. Polk does not recall being notified by SEIU Local 2015’s solicitor that she
had a First Amendment right not to join or subsidize SEIU Local 2015 or that she
was waiving that First Amendment right by agreeing to join and subsidize SEIU
Local 2015.

22. Polk does not recall signing any written document in which she agreed to be
a union member, agreed to have union dues deducted from her IHSS payments, or
agreed to waive First Amendment rights.

23. In the days following SEIU Local 2015s telephone solicitation, Polk

researched the organization and realized that she did not want to join or pay dues
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to SEIU Local 2015 because its agenda did not align with her morals and values
and for financial reasons.

24. In early March 2018, Polk called SEIU Local 2015, spoke with an agent,
and verbally notified the organization that she did not want to be a union member
and did not consent to the deduction of union dues from her IHSS payments.

25. Polk thereafter received from SEIU Local 2015 a letter dated March 13,
2018, that informed Polk that the deduction of union dues from her IHSS payments
only can be stopped by her providing written notice to SEIU Local 2015 during a
fifteen (15) day period prior to the anniversary date on which she agreed to dues
deduction. The letter is attached as Exhibit A and incorporated herein.

26. On information and belief, SEIU Local 2015’s membership and dues
authorization includes, amongst other terms, a term that makes the deduction of
union dues irrevocable except by mailing a written notice to SEIU Local 2015
during an annual fifteen (15) day period prior to the anniversary on which
deductions were authorized. Hereinafter, this and any similar restriction shall be
referred to as the “revocation policy.”

27. On information and belief, SEIU Local 2015’s membership and dues
authorization does not include language that notifies providers that they have a
First Amendment right not to subsidize SEIU Local 2015 or that clearly states that
the provider agrees to waive and restrict their exercise of First Amendment rights.
On information and belief, SEIU Local 2015’s telephone solicitors also do not

provide this information to providers they solicit.
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28. After receiving SEIU Local 2015’s letter of March 13, 2018, Polk again
notified SEIU Local 2015 that she did not want to be a member of SEIU Local 2015
and did not consent to the deduction or collection of union dues. A copy of that letter
1s attached as Exhibit B and incorporated therein.

29. Notwithstanding Polk’s lack of consent, the State Controller, at the behest
of SEIU Local 2015, deducts union dues from IHSS payments made to Polk and
remits those monies to SEIU Local 2015, which collects those monies.

30. On information and belief, SEIU Local 2015 and the State Controller have
enforced, and will continue to enforce, their revocation policy against providers by
deducting and collecting union dues from providers who provide notice that they do
not consent to paying union dues outside of the fifteen day (15) period applicable to
each provider.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

31. Plaintiff brings this case on her own behalf and on behalf of two classes of
similarly situated providers. First, Plaintiff seeks the certification, under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(1)(A), (b)(1)(B), and (b)(2), of a “Class” of all IHSS
providers who are subject or become subject to Defendants’ revocation policy.
Second, Plaintiff seeks the certification, under Rules 23(b)(2) and (b)(3), of a
“Revocation Class” that consists of every IHSS provider from whom the Defendants
deducted or collected union dues after the provider notified a Defendant that he or
she did not consent to paying union dues or to having union dues deducted from

IHSS payments. Alternatively, Plaintiff requests certification of the classes or
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subclasses the Court deems appropriate.

32. SEIU Local 2015 reported to the federal government that 179,729 public
homecare workers were union members in 2017. On information and belief, many if
not most of these individuals are subject to the revocation policy. The number of
Class members makes joinder of the individual Class members impractical.

33. On information and belief, Defendants have enforced their revocation policy
against providers throughout the State of California, rendering joinder of individual
Revocation Class members impractical.

34. There are questions of fact and law common to all Class and Revocation
Class members. Factually, all are subject to the same or similar revocation policy.
The dispositive question of constitutional law is the same for the Plaintiff and Class
and Revocation Class members: does Defendants’ maintenance and enforcement of
their revocation policy violate the First Amendment? The dispositive legal question
under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(32) is also the same for the Plaintiff and Revocation
Class members: does the diversion of portions of their IHSS payments to SEIU
Local 2015 violate the providers’ rights under that statute?

35. Plaintiff’s claim is typical of Class members’ claims because all claims
concern whether Defendants’ revocation policy unlawfully restricts providers’
exercise of First Amendment rights. Plaintiff’s claim also is typical of Revocation
Class members’ claims because all claims concern whether Defendants enforcement
of their revocation policy, through the deduction and collection of union dues from

the providers without their consent, violates the providers’ First Amendment rights
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and 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(32).

36. Plaintiff will adequately represent the interests of the proposed classes,
and has no interests antagonistic to the class.

37. The Class can be maintained under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) because separate
actions by Class members could risk inconsistent adjudications that would establish
incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants.

38. The Class can be maintained under Rule 23(b)(1)(B) because an
adjudication determining the constitutionality of Defendants’ maintenance of their
revocation policy will, as a practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of all
Class members or substantially impair or impede their ability to exercise their First
Amendment rights.

39. The Class and Revocation Class can be maintained under Rule 23(b)(2)
because Defendants, by maintaining and enforcing their revocation policy, have
acted or refused to act on grounds that apply generally to members of the Class and
Revocation Class, so that final injunctive or declaratory relief is appropriate for the
Class and Revocation Class as a whole.

40. The Revocation Class can be maintained under Rule 23(b)(3) because the
common questions of law and fact identified in the complaint predominate over any
questions affecting only individual Revocation Class members. A class action is
superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the
controversy because, among other things, all Revocation Class members are

subjected to the same violation of their constitutional and statutory rights but the
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amount of money involved in each individual’s claim would make it burdensome for
them to maintain separate actions. The amount of the unauthorized deductions
taken from the Plaintiff and Revocation Class members is known to the Defendants.
CAUSES OF ACTION
COUNT1
(Constitutional Causes of Action)

41. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the paragraphs set forth
above in each Count of their Complaint.

42. Defendants act under color of state law when maintaining and enforcing
their revocation policy and by deducting, causing or effectuating the deduction of,
and/or collecting union dues from IHSS payments made to providers.

43. The Supreme Court in Harris v. Quinn, 134 S. Ct. 2618 (2014), held it
unconstitutional under the First Amendment for a state and union to require
unconsenting homecare providers to subsidize an exclusive representative.

44. The Supreme Court in Janus v. AFSCME, Council 31, 138 S. Ct. 2448, 2486
(2018) held that, under the First Amendment, “[n]either an agency fee nor any
other payment to the union may be deducted from a nonmember’s wages, nor may
any other attempt be made to collect such payment, unless the employee
affirmatively consents to pay.”

45. The Supreme Court in Janus further held that an individual’s consent to
pay union dues requires a waiver of First Amendment rights. 138 S. Ct. at 2486. To

be effective, a waiver of First Amendment rights must be knowingly, clearly, and
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voluntarily made.

46. Defendants’ revocation policy prohibits Plaintiff, Class members, and
Revocation Class members from exercising their First Amendment rights under
Harris and Janus for 350-51 days of every calendar year.

47. Defendants’ revocation policy caused and continues to cause the deduction
and collection of union dues from the Plaintiff and Revocation Class members who
do not consent to paying union dues or to having union dues deducted from their
ITHSS payments.

48. Defendants did not obtain from the Plaintiff, Class members, or Revocation
Class members a valid waiver of their First Amendment rights under Harris and
Janus because, among other reasons, SEIU Local 2015’s membership and dues
authorization: does not clearly inform providers that they have First Amendment
right not to financially support an exclusive representative and its speech; does not
expressly state that the provider agrees to waive or restrict his or her exercise of
First Amendment rights, and; often is a mere verbal authorization obtained during
a telephonic solicitation.

49. Defendants’ maintenance and enforcement of their revocation policy
deprives Plaintiff's and Class members’ of their First Amendment rights to free
speech and association, as secured against infringement by the Fourteenth
Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

50. Defendants, by deducting, causing the deduction, and/or collecting union

dues from the Plaintiff and Revocation Class members pursuant to their revocation
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policy, have deprived and continue to deprive Plaintiff's and Revocation Class
members’ First Amendment rights to free speech and association, as secured
against infringement by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

51. Plaintiff’s, Class members, and Revocation Class members are suffering the
irreparable harm and injury inherent in a violation of First Amendment rights, for
which there is no adequate remedy at law, as a result of being subject to
Defendants’ revocation policy and/or as a result of being forced to subsidize SEIU
Local 2015 and its speech without their consent.

COUNT I1
(Statutory Cause of Action)

52. The IHSS program is a Medicaid program subject to the strictures of 42
U.S.C. § 1396a. A provision of that federal law, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(32) (“Section
32”), mandates, subject to several statutory exceptions inapplicable here, “that no
payment under the plan for any care or service provided to an individual shall be
made to anyone other than such individual or the person or institution providing
such care or service, under an assignment or power of attorney or otherwise.”

53. Polk and other IHSS providers have a right and privilege secured by
Section 32 not to have IHSS payments owed to them for their services paid to any
other party, subject to several statutory exceptions inapplicable here.

54. The State Controller, by paying to SEIU Local 2015 portions of THSS

payments that must be paid to Polk and Revocation Class members under Section
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32, has and continues to deprive Polk and Revocation Class members of their rights
under Section 32, as secured against state infringement by 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

55. SEIU Local 2015, by actively participating in the above mentioned conduct
and by receiving from the State Controller monies that must be paid to Polk and
Revocation Class members under Section 32, has and continues to deprive Polk and
Revocation Class members of their rights under Section 32, as secured against state
infringement by 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiff request that this Court:

A. Issue a declaratory judgment that Defendants’ revocation policy 1is
unconstitutional under the First Amendment, as secured against infringement by
the Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and unenforceable;

B. Issue a declaratory judgment that Defendants violate the First Amendment,
as secured against infringement by the Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. §
1983, by deducting and/or collecting union dues from providers who do not consent
to paying union dues or who notify SEIU Local 2015 or the State Controller that
they no longer consent to paying union dues.

C. Issue a declaratory judgment that Defendants violate Section 32, as secured
against infringement by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by deducting and/or collecting union dues
from THSS payments made to providers.

D. Permanently enjoin Defendants along with their officers, agents, servants,

employees, attorneys, and any other person or entity in active concert or
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participation with them, from maintaining and enforcing the revocation policy and
from deducting or collecting union dues from providers who notify SEIU Local 2015
or the State Controller that they do not consent to paying union dues;

E. Award equitable relief that requires Defendants to provide Plaintiff and Class
Members with written notice that Defendants’ revocation policy is unconstitutional
and unenforceable; written notice that providers have the right to stop the
deduction and collection of union dues from them at any time by notifying SETU
Local 2015 or the State Controller of their lack of consent, and; an opportunity to
retroactively exercise that right;

F. Require SEIU Local 2015 to pay the Plaintiff and Revocation Class members
nominal and compensatory damages and to pay nominal to damages to Class
members.

G. Award Plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to the
Civil Rights Attorneys’ Fees Award Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and

H. Grant other and additional relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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Date: November 1, 2018

Class Action Complaint

By /s/ Steven Burlingham
Steven Burlingham, Esq.

(Cal. Bar No. 88554)
Gary, Till, Burlingham, & Lynch
1380 Lead Hill Blvd., Suite 200
Roseville, California 95661
Telephone: (916) 900-1336
steveb@gtblaw.com

William L. Messenger
(Pro Hac Vice Application to be Filed)
c/o National Right to Work Legal
Defense Foundation
8001 Braddock Road, Suite 600
Springfield, VA 22160
Telephone: 703.321-8510
wlm@nrtw.org

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Proposed
Classes
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California’s
— Long Term Care
55!54 Local.

March 13, 2018
Dear Delores Polk,

[Rol 1D [

You are receiving this letter because you contacted SEIU Local 2015, the Union that represents you and all JTHSS
providers in your county in the fight for increased wages and protection of the IHSS program, regarding the cancellatiort
of your union membership.

We want to be clear that you may cancel your membership at any time, which would mean losing the benefits of full
union membership, but cancellation of dues deduction requires that you send a specific request to cancel dues
authorization within the prescribed window period that was outlined on the membership card you signed.

As we explained when you contacted the Union, you chose to sign a union membership card that includes a commitment
to continue paying dues until either the fifteen-day period prior to the anniversary date of the time the card was signed. If
you do not request cancellation of dues deduction during any such fifteen-day period, the deductions will continue until
the next such period, when you will again have the opportunity to cancel dues deductions. The next period during which
you may cancel your dues authorization is 1/28/2019 through 2/11/2019,

If you still want to cancel your membership, you may do so by sending a signed letter stating that you no longer wish to
be a union member, and stating that you understand that your dues deductions will continue unless and until you send a
letter during the period specified above (or during any of the later cancellation periods available to you). Please be sure
the letter also contains the following information: your full name (as it would appear on your paycheck); your current
mailing address and telephone number; and your provider number,

If you would like to cancel your dues deductions, please send a signed letter to the Union during the identified window
period above, stating your desire to cancel dues deductions and payments. Please be sure the letter also contains the
following: your full name (as it would appear on your paycheck); your current mailing address and telephone number; and
your provider number.

You may mail either letter described in the paragraphs above to the Union (we encourage you to send it by certified mail
so that there is a record of it being sent): SEIU Local 2015, Attn: MOC Coordinator, 2910 Beverly Blvd., Los Angeles,
CA 90057.

Before making this important decision, I urge you to consider the important benefits of union membership. Members
support the efforts of their co-workers to obtain better wages, benefits and job protections for the entire bargaining unit.
Additionally, only members are entitled to participate in internal union matters, to vote for union leaders, and to vote to
reject or ratify the collective bargaining agreement for your bargaining unit. I urge you to call our Member Action Center
at 855-810-2015 to learn more about the benefits of union membership.

In Solidarity,

/f;bro’eﬁg? Loon
Kim Evon, Executive Vice President
SEIU Local 2015
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April 11, 2018

California’s Long Term Care Local SEIU 2015
2910 Beverly Boulevard
Los Angeles, CA 90057

Kimberly Evon
Executive Vice President
SEIU Local 2015

Dear Ms. Evon:

On April 7, 2018, I received a letter from you regarding the cancelation of membership and of
membership dues. Based upon your letter, you have left out some very important facts
surrounding my request for both cancellation of membership and cancellation of deduction of
dues (my wages and income).

Here are facts:
FACT: I NEVER signed a card for membership since being brought on as an IHSS provider.

FACT: Ireceived a phone call from someone representing SEIU 2015 regarding joining SEIU
2015 and becoming a member.

FACT: While under what felt like pressure from the person who called, and under personal
fatigue and stress, after a psychotic episode with my daughter, an IHSS client, I reluctantly
agreed to join; HOWEVER, I did request that I be mailed a copy of what I had agreed to.

FACT: Several days after receiving a phone call from SEIU’s center to join SEIU-2015, and after
doing my own research, and reviewing my budget, I decided that joining SEIU-2015 did not
reflect or align itself to my morals, my values, and would cause harm to me financially which
would add additional stress to my household and family. .

FACT: Within those several days AND the window of cancellation, I called SEIU-2015 at 855-
810-2015 and spoke with an agent. At that time, I told the Agent that [ had decided to cancel
membership and to stop any membership dues that would be withheld from my paycheck. I
also went into details my reasons for needing to opt-out. Because I didn’t have a brick and
mortar or PO BOX address for SETU-2015, I requested the agent to direct supply me with such
information. I was told that I would be connected to a Union Member who was in my county to
address my concerns.
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FACT: After several weeks of waiting for a brick and mortar address for SEIU-2015, I hadn’t
received an address for SEIU-2015 to send a letter to request cancellation of membership and
dues, so I called to follow-up. Iwas then told that I could NOT cancel membership OR dues
deduction. That I had missed the “window of opportunity.” Each phone call I have made have
been met with denials of truth, harassment, and hazing of a union.

Ms. Evon, the fact that my voice was not heard, my request was not honored, that a portion of
my hard earned wages are being held hostage is not only unfair, but unethical in the way my
request to cancel membership, to not have my wages deducted under the words “dues” and to
not wanting to be affiliated with SEIU-2015 against my will or permission is NOT the way a
Union should conduct its business.

At this time, SETU-2015 continual denial of honoring my timely request to NOT become a
member and NOT have my wages deducted, has caused stress in which I have had to see a
Medical doctor for stress related matters.

At this time, SETU-2015 continual denial of honoring my timely request to NOT become a
member and NOT have my wages deducted, has caused me to not perform my duties as an
THSS provider to the best of my abilities.

At this time, SETU-2015 continual denial of honoring my timely request to NOT become a
member and NOT have my wages deducted, has caused me to seek legal advice and/or
representation regarding my rights which have been violated.

Ms. Evon, SEIU-2015, has been put on notice that I, Delores Polk, within the time frame of
cancelling and opting-out of membership and membership dues once again is requesting the
following;:
1. Cancel any membership with SEIU-2015 I, under stress, agreed to at that time.
2. Cancel any membership dues with SEIU-2015, I under stress, agreed to at that time.
3. SEIU-2015 to review the initial phone conversation for membership.
4. SEIU-2015 to review the initial phone conversation shortly thereafter, requesting
cancellation of membership.
5. Cease and Desist the harassing phone calls [ have been receiving from SEIU-2015 since
March 2018.

Full Information As It Appears On Checks:
Delores Polk [ - Vallejo, California 94590

Respectfully submitted,

Delores Polk
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Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as
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